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r 5. DISTRICT GOURT
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT mmtn ms&a&%‘f 9F OHI0

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

EASTERN DIVISIQN
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) i
) INDICTMENT
Plaintiff, )
)
Vs. ) 1 R
' )
DAVID R. SHARROCK, ) Tltle 18, United States Code,
RICHARD W. BALLIETT, ) Sect;ons 2,371,1001,1343, &
RHONDA J. MCELROY, ) 1344
RONALD L. KIGHTLINGER, )
) JUDGE NUGENT
Defendants. )
COUNT 1 (Conspiraéyl
The Grand Jury charges:

A, The Conspiracy and Its Objects

1. From November 2004, through November 2007, in the Northern District of Ohio,
Eastern Division, and elsewhere, the defendants, DAVID R. SHARROCK, RICHARD W.
BALLIETT, RHONDA J. MCELROY, and RONALD L KIGHTLINGER, knowingly and
voluntarily, did combine, conspire, confederate and agree with one another to commit certain
offenses against the United States, namely:

a. To transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication

in interstate commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, for the purpose of

knowingly executing a scheme and artifice to defraud mortgage lenders and to obtain money and
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property from them by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

b. To knowingly execute and aid and abet in the execution of a scheme and
artifice to defraud federally-insured financial institutions, and to obtain money, funds, credits,
securities, assets and other property owned by and under the custody and control of said financial
institutions by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1344.

2. The object of the conspiracy was to:

a. To enrich the defendants by engaging in fraudulent real estate transactions
in the Northern District of Ohio and elsewhere, whereby false and fraudulent representations
were made on purchase agreements, a verification of deposit letter, and HUD-1 Settlement
Statements.

B. The Defendants

3. Defendant DAVID R. SHARROCK is the owner of D.R.L. Properties Trust, LLC,
Herman Trust Properties, LLC, and D & D Rentals which has owned and managed hundreds of
investment rental properties located in the Northern District of Ohio. SHARROCK sold multiple
properties to buyers D.F., D.H., M.B., and G.S. (all not charged herein), which were titled in the
names of SHARROCK and/or his wife, or under one of the entities mentioned above.

4. Defendant RICHARD W. BALLIETT oversaw the daily operations of Home
Central, Inc. The company owned and managed investment rental properties located in the
Northern District of Ohio. BALLIETT facilitated multiple property sales between SHARROCK

and buyer M.B. BALLIETT also sold homes to M.B. under Home Central, Inc.
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5. Defendant RHONDA J. MCELROY is the daughter of SHARROCK.
MCELROY is employed by SHARROCK at D & D Rentals and owns rental properties in the
Northern District of Ohio. MCELROY sold multiple properties to buyer G.S.

6. Defendant RONALD L. KIGHTLINGER was the buyer of SHARROCK’S
property located at 34-38 West 4™ Street, Mansfield, Ohio.

C.  Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

7. It was part of the conspiracy that W.M. (not charged herein) sought out buyers to
purchase properties owned by SHARROCK. W.M. was given a finders fee of $500 to $1,000 by
SHARROCK and facilitated multiple property sales between SHARROCK and buyers D.F. and
D.H.

8. It was further part of the conspiracy that SHARROCK structured the sales in one
of two ways: first, the purchase agreement provided to the lenders falsely represented that the
buyers provided SHARROCK a ten percent earnest deposit on the house when in fact no earnest
deposit was provided; or second, SHARROCK provided the buyers the down payment money for
the sale which was never disclosed to the lenders. As a result, the HUD-1 Settlement Statements
created and signed by the parties were false. W.M. also received down payment money from
SHARROCK and purchased bank checks listing the buyer as the remitter. The checks were used
at closing and falsely represented that the money came fror_n the buyers.

9. It was further part of the conspiracy that BALLIETT sought out buyer M.B. to
purchase properties owned by SHARROCK and Home Central, Inc. M.B. purchased multiple

properties from SHARROCK and Home Central, Inc. by receiving undisclosed down payment

assistance.
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10. It was further part of the conspiracy that SHARROCK wired money into M.B.’s
checking account. BALLIETT, who controlled the account, would then convert the money into
official banks checks to be provided to the title company at closing. This down payment
assistance was never directly disclosed to the lender. As a result, the HUD-1 Settlement
Statements created and signed by the parties were false.

11. It was further part of the conspiracy that SHARROCK and MCELROY sought out
buyer G.S. to purchase multiple properties they owned in the Northern District of Ohio.
SHARROCK structured the sales in one of two ways: first, the purchase agreement provided to
the lenders falsely represented that G.S. provided SHARROCK and MCELROY an eamnest
deposit on the homes when in fact no earnest deposits were provided; or second, SHARROCK
provided G.S. the down payment funds for the sales which was never disclosed to the lenders. As
a result, the HUD-1 Settlement Statements created and signed by the parties were false.
MCELROY was aware of the misrepresentations on the purchase agreements.

12. It was further part of the conspiracy that SHARROCK sought out buyer
KIGHTLINGER to purchase his office building located at 34-38 West 4™ Street, Mansfield,
Ohio. The purchase agreement provided to the lender falsely represented that KIGHTLINGER
provided SHARROCK a $100,000 earnest deposit on the commercial property when in fact no
eamest deposit was provided.

13. It was further part of the conspiracy that SHARROCK provided KIGHTLINGER
a check for $120,000 which was deposited into his account at Key Bank. After the deposit,
KIGHTLINGER obtained a fraudulent verification of deposit letter from Key Bank which was

submitted to the lender in support of his loan. The next day KIGHTLINGER returned the money



Case: 1:12-cr-00028-DCN Doc #: 3 Filed: 01/11/12 5 of 17. PagelD #: 22

" to SHARROCK. As a result, the HUD-1 Settlement Statement created and signed by the parties
was false.

14. It was further part of the conspiracy that loan documents were transmitted in
interstate commerce by facsimile between the mortgage broker office and potential lenders, and
loan proceeds were wired in interstate commerce to the title agency used for the real estate sales
closings.

15. It was further part of the conspiracy to defraud federally-insured financial
institutions by providing materially false and fraudulent representations on purchase agreements
and HUD-1 Settlement Statements which caused a loss.

16.  This conspiratorial enterprise, perpetrated by the defendants, generated aggregate
losses of approximately $1.3 million dollars.

D. Overt Acts

17.  To achieve the object of the conspiracy and in furtherance thereof, the following
acts were committed:

a. For the properties listed below, loans for which were made on the
settlement dates, defendants, SHARROCK, BALLIETT, MCELROY,
KIGHTLINGER and others caused documents to be prepared and used in

furtherance of the conspiracy, each such document being an overt act:

# | Date and Address Document
Conspirators
12/09/2004 - 71 Greenwood 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
1 SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
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# | Date and Address Document
Conspirators
12/09/2004 - 76 Greenwood 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement

2 | SHARROCK, WM., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

3 | 12/09/2004 - 44 Raleigh 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

4 |12/18/2004 - 565 Amold 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M.,, Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

5 |12/18/2004 - 385 Home 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, WM., | Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

6 | 12/23/2004 - 284 Remy 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
12/28/2004 - 144 Columbia 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement

7 | SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
12/28/2004 - 21 Greenwood 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement

8 | SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

9 |12/28/2004 - 398 Home 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.F. Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

10 | 5/10/2005 - 208 Blaine Ave. 1. HUD-] Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

11 | 05/10/2005 - 335 Edgewood 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Drive 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. Marion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

12 | 05/10/2005 - 364 Chester 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Street 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. Marion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
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# | Date and Address Document
Conspirators
13 | 05/10/2005 - 185 Latourette 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, WM., Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
14 | 05/18/200S5 - 738 Gill Avenue | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
15 | 05/18/2005 - 306 Patten Street | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, W.M., Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. 3. Borrower's Closing Check
16 | 05/18/2005 - 190 Glad Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, WM., Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
and D.H. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
17 | 02/10/2006 - 542 Gruber 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Mansfield, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
MCELROY, and G.S. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
18 | 02/14/2006 - 28 Blanche Street | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROQOCK and G.S. | Mansfield, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
19 | 02/14/2006 - 338 High Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | (Rear) 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
20 | 02/13/2006 - 53 State Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Mansfield, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
21 |02/14/2006 - 219 LaSalle 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Street 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
22 | 02/14/2006 - 287 Cass Avenue | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
23 | 02/13/2006 - 168 Nye Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3

. Borrower’s Closing Check
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# | Date and Address Document
Conspirators
24 |09/21/2006 - 207 Carhart 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Street 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
BALLIETT, and M.B. | Marion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
25 | 09/21/2006 - 130 South Riblet | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Street 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
BALLIETT, and M.B. | Galion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
26 | 02/13/2006 - 458 Scranton 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S | Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Marion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
27 | 01/23/2007 - 431 Vine Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Marion, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
28 | 01/23/2007 - 32 Trux Street 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Plymouth, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
29 | 01/23/2007 - 190 Hillside 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Circle 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
30 | 01/23/2007 - 174 Arthur 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
31 |02/01/2007 - 15 Summit Steet | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Shelby, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
3. Borrower’s Closing Check
32 | 02/01/2007 - 216 Blymyer 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and G.S. | Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
Mansfield, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
33 | 04/30/2007 - 703 S. Poplar 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Street Bucyrus, 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
BALLIETT and M.B. | OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
34 | 06/08/2007 - 252 John Avenue | 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Mansfield, OH 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
MCELROY and G.S. 3. Borrower’s Closing Check
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# | Date and Address Document
Conspirators

35 | 07/20/2007 - 576 Herman 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK, Street 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
BALLIETT and M.B. | Marion, OH 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

36 | 07/20/2007 - 236 N. Grand 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
BALLIETT and M.B. Avenue 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate

Marion, OH * | 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

37 | 10/22/07 - 34-38 W, 4" 1. HUD-1 Settlement Statement
SHARROCK and Street, Manfield, | 2. Offer to Purchase Real Estate
KIGHTLINGER Ohio 3. Borrower’s Closing Check

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.
COUNTS 2-7 (Wire Fraud)

The Grand Jury further charges:

L. From in or around November 2006, through in or around February 2007, in the
Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, the defendant, DAVID R.
SHARROCK, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, devised and intended to devise
a scheme and artifice to defraud Suntrust Mortgage, Inc., and to obtain money and property from
that company by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and
promises.

2. It was part of the scheme and artifice that SHARROCK sought out buyer G.S.
(not charged herein) to purchase multiple properties he owned in the Northern District of Ohio.
SHARROCK structured the sales in one of two ways: first, the purchase agreements provided to
Suntrust Mortgage, Inc. falsely represented that G.S. provided SHARROCK an earnest deposit
on the homes when in fact no earnest deposits were provided; or second, SHARROCK provided

G.S. the down payment funds for the sales which was never disclosed to the lenders. As a result,

9
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the HUD-1 Settlement Statements created and signed by the parties were false.

3. Between on or about November 1, 2006, and on or about February 28, 2007, for
the purpose of executing and aiding and abetting the execution of said scheme and artifice,
DAVID R. SHARROCK caused to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate
commerce, from the State of Georgia to the State of Ohio, funds from Suntrust Mortgage, Inc.,
for mortgage loans obtained on behalf of the buyer G.S., for the properties listed below, which

were sold by defendant SHARROCK:

Count | Date Original Lender Buyer | Seller Property
2 1/23/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 431 South Vine Street,
Marion, OH
3 1/23/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 32 Trux Street,
' Plymouth, OH

4 1/23/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 190 Hillside Circle,
Mansfield, OH

5 1/23/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 174 Arthur Avenue,
Mansfield, OH

6 2/01/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 15 Summit Street,
Shelby, OH

7 2/01/07 | Suntrust Mortgage | G.S. SHARROCK | 216 Blymyer Avenue,
Mansfield, OH

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2.

COUNTS 8-17 (Bank Fraud)
The Grand Jury further charges:

1. At all times material herein, Washington Mutual Bank and J.P. Morgan Chase,

N.A., were financial institutions whose deposits were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance

10



